THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jun 21 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from York County  
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-001574

Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the  
Estate of Steven Redfearn Stewart,.....Respondent

v.

Scapa Waycross, Inc.,.....Petitioner

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

C. Mitchell Brown (12872)  
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP  
1320 Main Street, 17<sup>th</sup> Floor  
Columbia, SC 29201  
803-799-2000  
mitch.brown@nelsonmullins.com

*Counsel for Petitioner*

**

## INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals' rulings in this asbestos case conflict with prior decisions of this Court and several courts around the nation in significant ways. It is the institutional role of this Court to provide guidance where, as here, South Carolina's common law has been, with respect, impermissibly expanded and misapplied below.

For example, during trial, the circuit court permitted the Plaintiffs experts—over Scapa's objections—to testify to a “cumulative dose” theory that has not been recognized by this Court and has been widely condemned by courts around the nation as inappropriate. Relatedly, in analyzing whether Mr. Stewart presented legally sufficient evidence to prove substantial factor causation, the Court of Appeals impermissibly relied on Pennsylvania law—which differs significantly from South Carolina law. The majority view among courts throughout the United States is that the “cumulative dose” or “cumulative exposure” testimony of Mr. Stewart's experts is inconsistent with the legal requirements under *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156 (4th Cir. 1986), adopted by this Court in *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179 (2007) for specific substantial factor causation in cases of this nature. When this Court addresses more fully how the *Lohrmann* test should be applied in cases such as the one here, this Court should specifically and expressly reject the Pennsylvania Supreme Court's decision in *Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032 (Pa. 2016)—not adopt it as the Court of Appeals has done.

The circuit court's *additur* ruling is also erroneous, as it was not properly tethered to the *compelling reasons* that this Court has directed must be given to justify invading the jury's province by granting additional damages. Following trial, the circuit court increased the already-sizeable award of \$600,000 in survival damages to \$1,000,000. The Court of Appeals' affirmance effectively granted the circuit court unfettered discretion to grant *additur*, regardless of whether a compelling reason exists for *additur*. *Additur* was improper because the damage awards below

were not “unduly conservative” under this Court’s settled precedent. *Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 192 (2015).

The Court of Appeals further erred by affirming the circuit court’s ruling on the issue of allocating settlement proceeds and setoff. As a matter of law, Respondent’s 80% wrongful-death-claim/20% survival-claim allocation was not reasonable under the facts. Respondent allocated 80% of the settlement proceeds to the wrongful death claim even though the circuit court found no reason to increase the jury’s award of \$100,000 for the wrongful death damages, given Mr. Stewart’s limited relationship with his children. Only 20% of the proceeds were allocated to the survival claim even though the trial court believed the evidence concerning Mr. Stewart’s survival damages warranted a 67% increase in survival damages—from \$600,000 to \$1,000,000. Among other reasons, given the circuit court’s findings concerning the damages evidence, allocating just 20% of the settlement proceeds to the survival claim is not reasonable. The allocation should have instead been 10% for the wrongful death claim and 90% for the survival claim for set off purposes.

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court’s ruling denying Petitioner’s motion for judgment n.o.v. because Respondent did not introduce any legally sufficient evidence of causation.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court’s order granting additur because the jury’s damage awards were not actuated by passion, caprice, or prejudice, and the trial court failed to pay substantial deference to the jury’s awards.
3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court’s abuse of discretion in accepting Respondent’s allocation of settlement proceeds.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Procedural history.

Steven Stewart initiated this asbestos products liability matter by a Complaint filed in February 2013. Complaint, Record on Appeal (“R”), pp. 30–56. Mr. Stewart filed an Amended Complaint in May 2013 adding Defendant-Petitioner Scapa Waycross, Inc. (Amended Complaint, R. 57-71).

Mr. Stewart died in August 2013. (Suggestion of Party’s Death, R. 72-75). Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Steven Redfearn Stewart, filed a Motion to Substitute Party and Motion to File a Second Amended Complaint, which was granted, (Order, R. 1-5), and Mr. Stewart filed a Second Amended Complaint in November 2013, (Second Amended Complaint, R. 76-92). Scapa filed an Answer to the Second Amended Complaint. (Scapa Answer, R. 93-102).

Mr. Stewart settled with all other defendants before trial. Trial was conducted from January 29, 2018 to February 2, 2018 and then continued from February 7, 2018 to February 9, 2018 against Scapa alone. (Trial Transcripts, R. 408-1646).

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Mr. Stewart on his negligence claim, and awarded actual damages of \$600,000 for Mr. Stewart’s survival claim and \$100,000 for Mr. Stewart’s wrongful death claim for total damages of \$700,000. (Verdict Form, R. 26-29). The jury did not find that Scapa’s conduct was willful, wanton or reckless. *Id.*

Following the verdict, Scapa filed a Motion for Setoff, (R. 141-45), a Motion for Production of Plaintiff’s Settlements and Payments with all Third Party Tortfeasors, (R. 164-70), and a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict on liability issues, but did not ask for a new trial, (R. 171-74).

Mr. Stewart filed a Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Additur*, (R. 175-83), arguing that the verdict should be raised to \$2,630,000 for Mr. Stewart's survival claim and \$600,000 for Mr. Stewart's wrongful death claim, for a total verdict of \$3,230,000, more than four times the jury's verdict. Scapa filed its Brief in Support of Motion for JNOV. (R. 184-93). Scapa also filed a response to Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*. (R. 194-98).

The circuit court held a hearing on the parties' post-trial motions and heard arguments on Mr. Stewart's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur* and granted an additional \$400,000 to the jury's survival award of \$600,000 to increase it to \$1,000,000, (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 25-27, R. 1671-73), but did not alter the wrongful death damages awarded by the jury. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 24-25, R. 1670-71).

The circuit court also heard argument on Scapa's Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third Party Tortfeasors or, in the alternative, Scapa asked that the Court review the settlements *in camera*. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 27-29, R. 1673-75). Scapa's counsel acknowledged that Mr. Stewart had produced the settlement numbers just before the hearing, but not the settlement documents. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, p. 32, R. 1678).

The disclosure revealed that Mr. Stewart had received or would receive \$1,036,000 in prior settlements, and that Mr. Stewart had uniformly (and unilaterally) allocated the previous settlement amounts by allocating 80% to the wrongful death claim and 20% to the survival claim. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 32, 36-37, R. 1678, 1682-83). Due to that recent disclosure, counsel for Scapa asked for time to move to reallocate those settlements, which the circuit court granted. (7/11/18 Post-Trial Motions Transcript, pp. 33, 35, R. 1679, 1681).

Scapa filed a Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds and a Brief in Support of same. (R. 199-204). The circuit court held a hearing on Scapa's Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds. (10/10/18 Motion Transcript, R. 1687-1708).

On March 25, 2019, the circuit court issued its Order on Post-Trial Motions, granting Mr. Stewart's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur*, denying Scapa's Motion for JNOV, denying Scapa's Motion for Production of Plaintiff's Settlements and Payments with all Third-Party Tortfeasors, granting Scapa's Motion for Setoff, and denying Scapa's Motion to Reallocate Settlement Proceeds. (Order Re: Post-Trial Motions, R. 6-25).

Scapa timely appealed. (Notice of Appeal, R. 210-32). The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's judgment and all related post-trial motions. Scapa timely filed a Petition for Rehearing with the Court of Appeals on September 14, 2022, which was denied on October 26, 2022. Scapa then petitioned this Court for certiorari on December 19, 2022. The Petition was allowed, in full, by order entered May 23, 2023.

## **2. Facts**

Mr. Stewart was employed at the Bowater Paper Mill in Catawba, South Carolina, from 1963 until 2002. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo., p. 25, R. 2102).<sup>1</sup> He was originally hired as a utility man performing clean up on Paper Machine 1. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo., pp. 25-27, R. 2102-04). He was promoted to several different positions at Bowater, but he worked his entire career on Paper Machine Number 1. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo., pp. 27-30, R. 2104-07).

The paper machines used dryer felts to keep the paper against the dryer drums, which dried the paper, and the felts would also absorb moisture from the paper sheets. (1 Tr. 269-270, R. 676-77; 2 Tr. 84-85, R. 1236-37). Bowater purchased dryer felts from Scapa from 1963 until around

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Stewart's discovery deposition taken on February 18, 2013 was read into the record at trial on February 2, 2018. (1 Tr. 570-571, R. 977-78).

1981. *See* (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 56, R. 2095-96) (showing the first purchase of Scapa felt in 1963, installed in 1964). During Mr. Stewart's career, Bowater used 288 dryer felts on Paper Machine 1, but only 3.8% of those dryer felts were Scapa asbestos-containing dryer felts. (2 Tr. 92-93, R. 1244-45).

Mr. Stewart did not know which dryer felts contained asbestos and could not tell from looking at the dryer felts. (2/18/13 Stewart Depo. pp. 168-71, 179, 181, R. 2114-19). Similarly, Mr. Stewart's co-workers were unable to identify any asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts that Mr. Stewart worked with. (7/13/13 Hegler Depo., pp. 68-69, R. 2205-06);<sup>2</sup> (1 Tr. 337-38, R. 744-45) (testimony of co-worker Steele).

Because there were no fact witnesses tying Mr. Stewart directly to exposure to asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts, Plaintiff relied on so-called "Mastercards," which Scapa maintained to track the manufacture, sale, shipment, and use of Scapa dryer felts at Bowater, to demonstrate theoretical exposure. (1 Tr. 661-662, R. 1068-69). According to the Mastercards introduced at trial, Bowater started purchasing dryer felts from Scapa in 1963. *See* (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 56, R. 2095-96). However, the Mastercards also show that Scapa did not send any asbestos-containing dryer felts to Bowater until 1969. (Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit No. 26, R. 2051-52) (earliest Mastercard referencing asbestos).

Before 1968 and the introduction of asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts, Mr. Stewart had worked as a utility man, a fifth hand, and a fourth hand. In 1968, Mr. Stewart was promoted from fourth hand to third hand. (1 Tr. 262, 267, R. 669, 674) (Co-Worker Fred Steele testified that he started working with Mr. Stewart in 1968 at which time Mr. Stewart was a third hand). After 1968,

---

<sup>2</sup> Mr. Hegler's deposition testimony was read into the record. (1 Tr. 158, R. 565).

Mr. Stewart only worked as a third hand, a backtender, and a machine tender. (2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 30, R. 2107).

Significantly, those higher level, more senior positions did not involve cutting the dryer felt or cleaning the paper machine by blowing out the dryer. (1 Tr. 278, R. 685; 2/28/13 Stewart Depo. pp. 59-62, R. 2109-12). The third hand's primary job was to watch the paper machine and supervise other workers. (1 Tr. 266, 334, R. 673, 741; 2/28/13 Stewart Depo., p. 59, R. 2109). A machine tender did not have regular contact with dryer felts in any capacity. (3/4/13 Stewart Depo. p. 54, R. 2173). It was primarily up to the utility man and fifth hand to clean out the machine. (1 Tr. 278, R. 685). Fifth hands and fourth hands were primarily involved in cutting the dryer felt. (1 Tr. 289, R. 696).

Mr. Stewart's transition from fourth hand to third hand in 1968 is important because Plaintiff's own experts recognized that the dryer felt would not release any fibers unless it was being cut or otherwise manipulated by the worker. *See* Testimony of Plaintiff's expert Christopher DePasquale, (1 Tr. 470-471, R. 877-78). Thus, by the time that Scapa was shipping asbestos-containing dryer felt to Bowater in 1969, Mr. Stewart's positions no longer directly involved cutting or manipulating the dryer felts. Consequently, Plaintiff presented no evidence that Mr. Stewart worked closely enough to others cutting or manipulating asbestos-containing Scapa dryer felts to be exposed to asbestos from those dryer felts after becoming a third hand in 1968.

Mr. Stewart was diagnosed with malignant pleural mesothelioma on October 24, 2012. (1 Tr. 168, R. 575). He incurred \$241,822.70 in medical costs associated with that diagnosis. *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

### **1. The Court Of Appeals Erred By Affirming The Circuit Court’s Denial Of Scapa’s Motion For JNOV, Thereby Concluding That Stewart Sufficiently Established Specific Causation Below.**

The Court of Appeals committed error by affirming the circuit court’s denial of Scapa’s motion for JNOV. Mr. Stewart failed to offer competent record evidence of specific causation below sufficient to connect his workplace exposure to the asbestos-containing subject dryer felts (under “friable” fact settings<sup>3</sup>) and Mr. Stewart’s illness under *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156 (4th Cir. 1986), adopted by *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179 (2007). In South Carolina, JNOV should be granted when no competent evidence was admitted that could have reasonably supported the jury’s verdict. *Curcio v. Caterpillar, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 316, 320, 585 S.E.2d 272, 274 (2003). A reversal of the lower court’s denial of JNOV is proper “when there is no evidence to support the ruling or when the ruling is governed by an error of law.” *Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp.*, 387 S.C. 22, 42, 691 S.E.2d 135, 145 (2010)).

In affirming the circuit court’s denial of JNOV, the Court of Appeals improperly relied on and adopted *Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032 (Pa. 2016), and overlooked the important differences between South Carolina law and Pennsylvania law regarding specific causation. At its core, the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with prior rulings by this Court and many courts elsewhere.

### **A. The Court Of Appeals Exceeded The Permissible Boundaries Of Its Institutional Capacity As A South Carolina Error Correcting Court By Improperly Adopting Pennsylvania Law.**

South Carolina is undisputedly a *Lohrmann* jurisdiction. This Court has never accepted *Rost* as the common law of this state, but the Court of Appeals unilaterally adopted its core specific

---

<sup>3</sup> In such context, the exposure to the felt is unimportant unless the felt is being cut or otherwise manipulated.

causation principles below. It is well-settled in South Carolina that “the Court of Appeals is an error-correction court, whereas the Supreme Court is a law-giving court. The decisions of the Supreme Court bind the Court of Appeals.” Toal, Vafai & Muckenfuss, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, at 12 (2d ed. 2002). *See also* S.C. Const., art. V. § 9 (establishing the jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals and explaining the binding effect of Supreme Court opinions on the Court of Appeals); *Daniels v. City of Goose Creek*, 314 S.C. 494, 498, 431 S.E.2d 256, 260 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding that any modification of Supreme Court case law must be undertaken by the Supreme Court). It is only “within this Court's purview to change the common law.” *Marcum v. Bowden*, 372 S.C. 452, 458 (2007). It is the institutional role of this Court of last resort to provide guidance and clarification where, as here, the Court of Appeals has significantly altered South Carolina’s existing common law.

**B. The “Cumulative Dose” Theory Is Indistinguishable From The Junk Science “Every Exposure” Theory Rejected By Dozens Of Jurisdictions And Should Be Conclusively Rejected Here.**

A products liability plaintiff must prove that the product defect was the proximate cause of the injury, regardless of the plaintiff’s theory of recovery. *Bray v. Marathon Corp.*, 356 S.C. 111, 116, 588 S.E.2d 93, 95 (2003); *Young v. Tide Craft, Inc.*, 270 S.C. 453, 461, 242 S.E.2d 671, 675 (1978). To prove proximate cause in an asbestos case, the plaintiff must prove the decedent’s asbestos exposure attributable to a particular defendant constitutes substantial causation by satisfying the “frequency, regularity, and proximity” test. *Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d. (“To support a reasonable inference of substantial causation from circumstantial evidence, there must be evidence of exposure to a specific product on a regular basis over some extended period of time in proximity to where the Plaintiffs actually worked.”) (quoting *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986)).

But by adopting *Rost's* causation principles, the Court of Appeals failed to appreciate that the “cumulative dose” theory does not differ from the “each and every exposure” theory. *See Krik v. Exxon Mobil Corp.*, 870 F.3d 669, 675 (7th Cir. 2017) (rejecting cumulative exposure theory of causation because it is effectively the same as an each and every exposure theory); *Smith v. Ford Motor Co.*, No. 2:08-CV-630, 2013 WL 214378, at \*3 (D. Utah Jan. 18, 2013) (“Dr. Hammar seeks to base his causation opinion not on the thin reed that he cannot rule any exposure out, but on the opposite: he rules all exposures ‘in,’ boldly stating that Mr. Smith’s mesothelioma ‘was caused by his total and cumulative exposure to asbestos, with all exposures and all products playing a contributing role.’ This asks too much from too little evidence as far as the law is concerned.”).

Courts in the Fourth Circuit applying South Carolina law have concluded that substantial factor causation requires more than proof that a plaintiff had “occupational” or “above background” exposures from a defendant’s product. *See Haskins v. 3M Co.*, No. 2:15-CV-02086-DCN, 2017 WL 3118017, at \*7 (D.S.C. July 21, 2017) (“[T]he mere fact that ‘occupational’ or ‘above-background’ exposures contribute to the total cumulative dose fails to explain why [a plaintiff’s expert] views them as more causative than non-occupational or below-background exposures.”). It also requires a *contextual analysis*—causation experts must evaluate the relative significance of a decedent’s exposures. *See Haskins*, 2017 WL 3118017, at \*8 (“[A] robust concept of ‘substantial causation’ should account for the broader context in which a particular exposure occurs—including the defendant’s relative contribution to the overall exposure, rather than an assessment of whether its contribution was sufficiently harmful in the abstract.”). Thus, while short exposures *might* satisfy the standard if they are the *only* exposures, it is not enough to show “above background” exposure to a particular product if significant evidence of other exposures exists. *See id.*

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