THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Aug 04 2023

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001574

Stephen R. Edwards, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Steven Redfearn Stewart,..... Respondent,

v.

Scapa Waycross, Inc.,.....Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529

Gregory Hyland
Thomas H. Hart, III
HART, HYLAND, SHEPHERD, LLC
207 East 1st North Street
Summerville, SC 29483
843-410-0711

William M. Graham
Mona Lisa Wallace
WALLACE & GRAHAM, P.A.

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

*1. The proposed experts in that case intended to testify that “every single exposure to every asbestos product is a proximate cause of a subsequently diagnosed asbestos-related disease” and that, “if the evidence supports a single exposure, then causation can be opined and asserted.” *Id.* at *3, 19. That is not the testimony given in this case. Scapa’s argument on this point does not have any analysis whatsoever of the testimony and evidence in this case. Scapa fails to give this Court a legal or factual basis to make a declaration that something is not scientific fact.

It is not the role of this Court or the Court of Appeals to decide scientific fact. That is the jury’s role, and it properly fulfilled that role in this case.

D. Scapa’s incompatibility argument is improper and legally meritless; and the Court of Appeals properly cited to *Rost* as a case that analyzed similar testimony from the same expert.

There are numerous, independent reasons for the Court to reject Scapa’s argument that the Court of Appeals’ citation to *Rost* is incompatible with South Carolina law.

First, this argument is another attempt to have this Court overturn the Court of Appeals’ JNOV ruling in *Jolly v. GE*, 435 S.C. 607, 634, 865 S.E.2d 12, 26, 869 S.E.2d 819, 26 (Ct. App. 2021). The Court of Appeals did not adopt *Rost* in *Jolly* or in this case. In this case, it cited to *Rost* one time in a parenthetical citation that is quoting the *Jolly* opinion. The sentence preceding the citation is simply a statement of the each-and-every exposure theory. It is not an adoption of or change in the law. Scapa’s real complaint is with the *Jolly* opinion. However, it chose to accept that decision as law in the Court of Appeals by not moving under Rule 217, SCACR, to argue against precedent at the oral argument of this case. Scapa never even argued that the Court should overturn *Jolly* or that Stewart’s case differs from *Jolly*.

Second, it is proper for one Court to cite another’s court’s decision on a similar issue as persuasive. That is the purpose of the Court of Appeals’ citation to *Rost*. In *Jolly*, the plaintiff argued that his expert’s testimony “that all exposures contribute to the cumulative dose that causes

disease, [] does not mean that every exposure rises to the level of a substantial factor.” *Jolly v. GE*, 435 S.C. 607, 634, 865 S.E.2d 12, 26, 869 S.E.2d 819, 26 (Ct. App. 2021). The Court of Appeals cited *Rost* in its discussion about “distinguish[ing] between the ‘each and every exposure’ theory and the cumulative dose theory” because *Rost* it made a similar distinction about the testimony Dr. Frank gave in that case. *Id.* at 634-35, 869 S.E.2d at 26. *Jolly* did not adopt any reasoning in or law from *Rost*.

Third, the Court should reject Scapa’s insistence on a bright-line, categorical rule banning all testimony about cumulative exposure. Scapa is essentially asking the Court to ban cumulative exposure testimony and adopt a “contextual analysis” for the first time on certiorari. (Br. of Pet. p. 20). The word “context” appears nowhere in Scapa’s briefing to the Court of Appeals.¹⁰ It appears for the first time in its petition for rehearing. “A party may not raise an issue for the first time in a petition for rehearing.” *Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 434 S.C. 392, 412 n.19, 864 S.E.2d 873, 884 n.19 (2021) (internal quotation and alteration marks omitted). Up until this point, there has been no dispute in this case about an each-and-every versus contextual analysis. Instead, it is manufactured by Scapa on appeal, and this Court should reject it.

This argument is another example of how Scapa argues law in this appeal but ignores the actual evidence because a contextual-type analysis was done in this case. Both Mr. DePasquale and Dr. Frank considered evidence of Stewart’s exposure to other asbestos products and still opined that his exposure to Scapa’s asbestos-containing dryer felts was a substantial cause of mesothelioma. (R. pp. 848-50, 894, 2264, 2281, 2332-34). Based on this evidence, Scapa’s argument amounts to nothing more than a harmless error because it cannot affect the outcome of

¹⁰ For example, Scapa unfairly argues to this Court that the Court of Appeals “erred by failing to acknowledge the [alleged] direct conflict between these foreign authorities and South Carolina law.” (Br. of Pet. p. 20). Scapa never argued those authorities to the Court of Appeals.

the verdict and is irrelevant. *See Miller v. Dillon*, 432 S.C. 197, 211, 851 S.E.2d 462, 470 (Ct. App. 2020) (finding an error harmless and stating “‘whatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.’” (quoting *McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987))).

Scapa is also incorrect on the merits because the evidence and testimony of individual cases will differ, and there is no universally accepted definition of each-and-every or cumulative exposure. This case is an example of how an expert may testify about cumulative exposure and give a substantial causation opinion based on the plaintiff’s exposure to the defendant’s product. *See, e.g., Dugger v. Union Carbide Corp.*, C/A No. CCB-16-3912, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 171168, at *37 (D. Md. Sep. 30, 2019) (“While a few of Dr. Frank’s statements may recall the ‘each and every exposure’ theory, the ‘other parts of his reports that provide context to’ those statements show that Dr. Frank considered the specifics of Mr. Dugger’s exposure to Bendix brakes when coming to his conclusion.”); *Dixon v. Ford Motor Co.*, 70 A.3d 328, 335 (Md. 2013) (“The major fallacy in Ford’s contention that a *Frye/Reed* analysis is required is that it looks only to the ‘every exposure to asbestos is a substantial contributing cause’ statement and largely ignores the other parts of her testimony that provide a context to that one statement.”). Each opinion must be analyzed within the facts of that case.

This is proven by the fact that many of the cases Scapa cites to involved facts of minimal exposure (in contrast to the undisputed exposure findings of the Court of Appeals in this case). *See, e.g., McIndoe v. Huntington Ingalls Inc.*, 817 F.3d 1170, 1176 (9th Cir. 2016) (“[E]ven if McIndoe was around asbestos dust several times, his heirs presented no evidence regarding the *amount* of exposure to dust from originally installed asbestos, or critically, the *duration* of such exposure during any of these incidents.”); *Martin v. Cincinnati Gas & Elec. Co.*, 561 F.3d 439, 443 (6th Cir. 2009) (“Plaintiff has not established that GM products contained asbestos or that

Plaintiff was ever exposed to any asbestos from GM products.”); *Schwartz v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc.*, 102 N.E.3d 477, 483 (Ohio 2018) (stating the plaintiff “merely showed that Kathleen could have been exposed to asbestos from Bendix products when her father installed Bendix brakes on five to ten occasions.”); *Smith v. Ford Motor Co.*, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7861, at *9 (D. Utah Jan. 18, 2013) (stating plaintiff’s expert failed to show that his “six alleged exposure to asbestos” over forty years earlier was a sufficient exposure to cause his mesothelioma).¹¹ In this case, the evidence and testimony was much more than the simple fact of exposure to Scapa asbestos.

To even address the merits of Scapa’s argument, this Court would have to first find (1) the issue is preserved by objection to Dr. Frank’s testimony at trial (which never occurred), (2) the issue was preserved by argument to the Court of Appeals in briefing (which never occurred), (3) the Court of Appeals incorrectly found Dr. Frank used cumulative dose “to explain how an individual’s risk of developing mesothelioma or other lung disease increases as that individual’s dose of asbestos increases through exposure” rather than as a substantial causation opinion¹² (which Scapa has never argued), and (4) no contextual analysis occurred in this case (which ignores Dr. DePasquale and Dr. Frank’s testimony). There is simply no factual or legal basis for those rulings, most of which Scapa ignores in this Court.

In conclusion, Stewart presented ample evidence of the frequency, regularity, and proximity of his exposure to Scapa’s asbestos-containing dryer felts. Scapa’s JNOV argument ignores the actual evidence in this case. Instead, it tries to focus the Court away from the evidence in this case by misstating the Court of Appeals’ decision. The law and the record in this case

¹¹ Two cases cited by Scapa—*Laney v. Celotex Corp.*, 901 F.2d 1319 (6th Cir. 1990), and *Allen v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.*, 571 N.W.2d 530 (Mich. Ct. App. 1997)—did not involve an each-and-every or cumulative exposure issue.

¹² *Edwards*, 437 S.C. at 417-18, 878 S.E.2d at 707-08.

amply support the lower court and Court of Appeals' rulings, and this Court should affirm the denial of Scapa's JNOV motion.

III. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the lower court's discretionary decision to grant additur.

The Court of Appeals conducted a thorough analysis of the evidence in this case to find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting additur. Because “the record is replete with evidence of [Stewart's] pain and suffering, which was unrefuted by Scapa, [the Court found] the trial court was well within its discretion in granting Stewart a new trial *nisi additur*.” *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 710. The Court also found “that the trial court provided ample justification for increasing Stewart's survival award” based on the law and its “meticulous[]” analysis of the evidence. *Id.* Scapa provides no legal or factual basis for this Court to grant certiorari on this issue.

Scapa argues that additur is only allowed if the jury does not award all of the medical expenses or does not “account for”, *i.e.* award any amount for, pain and suffering. (Br. p. 23). That is not the law in South Carolina. *See Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 194, 777 S.E.2d 824, 829-30 (2015) (“While the presence of some amount of noneconomic damages may be a factor mitigating against the granting of a new trial *nisi additur*, there is no categorical rule prohibiting a *nisi additur* where a jury verdict includes some measure of noneconomic damages.”).

Scapa argues that when the original damages award “exceeds the medical expenses by nearly three times, there is no compelling reason” to grant additur. (Br. of Pet. p. 23). Again, there is no law stating a bright-line rule on a permissible amount of damages for intangible, non-economic damages based on the amount of medical expenses. The Supreme Court already squarely rejected that argument in *Riley*.

Scapa argues that the lower court did not provide compelling reasons because the court noted that the jury's verdict may have been affected by the empty chair defense. (Br. of Pet. pp.

23-24). That argument is not preserved because Scapa raised it for the first time in a reply brief. *See Harbin v. Williams*, 429 S.C. 1, 9, 837 S.E.2d 491, 495 (Ct. App. 2019) (declining to address an “issue because it was raised for the first time in the reply brief”). Regardless, it is meritless because the lower court’s mention of a possible reason for an inadequate award does not prohibit the court from finding other, compelling reasons to grant additur.

It is the law of the case that Scapa did not dispute (1) the amount of medical bills, (2) “that Stewart suffered greatly as he attempted to treat his disease”, and (3) that none of Stewart’s comorbidities “interacted with or amplified the pain and suffering Stewart felt from the mesothelioma.” *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 710. Scapa does not even argue any longer that the comorbidities affect additur, despite that being a central argument in its briefing below.

Scapa now argues, for the first time to this Court, that “the discretion to grant additur is not so broad as to permit a 67% increase in the jury’s award for unliquidated survival damages.” (Br. p. 24). Not surprisingly, it cites to no law for this proposition. That is because there is not a numerical or percentage-based limitation on the trial court’s additur discretion. To the contrary, this Court in *Riley* affirmed a 50% additur without any mention of such a limitation. *Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 194, 777 S.E.2d 824, 830 (2015). Scapa’s “categorical rule formulation would remove the discretion vested in trial court judges.” *Id.* at 194, 777 S.E.2d at 830.

The undisputed testimony is that Stewart endured **daily** pain for **years** before and after his diagnosis. (Final Br. of Resp’t pp. 27-28). The undisputed testimony is that, after he began treatment described as unimaginably painful and a sledge hammer, Stewart had no appetite, could not go to the bathroom, could not sleep, could not drive, and could not walk a short distance, just to name a few things. Stewart endured all of that physical suffering while mentally suffering with the undeniable fact that he would die from mesothelioma. After watching his video deposition,

the Court of Appeals wrote that Stewart, “swelling with emotions, stated, ‘I never imagined my life would come to what it is.’” *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 709. A \$1,000,000.00 award for medical expenses and such extreme pain and suffering is not an abuse of discretion. It is actually too low for the physical and mental agony that Stewart endured and tried so bravely to fight in order to spend more time with his family.

The Court of Appeals held that Stewart’s evidence of pain and suffering “was *unrefuted* by Scapa”, and Scapa does not challenge that ruling. *Edwards*, 878 S.E.2d at 710 (emphasis added). What Scapa wants is to “play nice” in front of the jury by not disputing that Stewart suffered greatly but to come in the “back door” after a verdict and argue that his pain and suffering could only be a certain multiple of the amount of medical bills. This type of gamesmanship should not be allowed.

Finally, Scapa argues for the first time in this Court that “*additur* conflicts with the constitutional right to a jury trial as to the amount of damages.” (Br. of Pet. p. 23). It does not cite to a case stating that proposition. Regardless, it is unpreserved and ignores that it received a jury trial on damages in this case.

The evidence and law wholly support the trial court’s exercise of its discretion to grant *additur*, and this Court should affirm.

IV. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the lower court’s denial of Scapa’s motion to reallocate the settlement proceeds.

The Court of Appeals, relying on this Court’s precedent, correctly affirmed the lower court’s decision not to reallocate Stewart’s settlement proceeds.

The lower court increased the survival damages from \$600,000.00 to \$1,000,000.00 but left the jury’s \$100,000.00 wrongful death award undisturbed, which amounts to 90% survival and 10% wrongful death damages. (R. pp. 14-15). Stewart’s prior settlements totaled \$207,200.00 for

survival and \$828,800.00 for wrongful death, which amounts to 20% for survival and 80% for wrongful death. (R. p. 1695, Tr. p. 24, p. 1709). Scapa moved to reallocate the settlements to match the damages awards—90% to survival and 10% to wrongful death. (R. pp. 199-202, 1709). Relying on this Court’s decision in *Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 777 S.E.2d 824 (2015), the lower court denied the motion. (R. pp. 23-24, p. 1698 Tr. p. 37, p. 1699 Tr. pp. 41-42). After accounting for setoff, the lower court entered judgment for \$792,800.00 for survival and \$0.00 for wrongful death. (R. p. 24). The result is that the total amount Stewart received from all tortfeasors for survival is \$1,000,000.00—the exact amount of the judgment.

Scapa’s sole argument for reallocation is that the Court’s decision infringes on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-50 because it accepts a plaintiff’s settlement allocation. (Br. of Pet. pp. 25-28). The Court must reject this argument as unpreserved and contrary to controlling precedent.

First, the argument is unpreserved because Scapa did not raise it in its briefing in the Court of Appeals. “A party may not raise an issue for the first time in a petition for rehearing.” *Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC v. S.C. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 434 S.C. 392, 412 n.19, 864 S.E.2d 873, 884 n.19 (2021) (internal quotation and alteration marks omitted). There is no citation to or argument about § 15-38-50 in either of Scapa’s briefs. Therefore, the issue is unpreserved, and this Court does not need to consider or address it.

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